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<THE HEARING COMMENCED AT 10.12 AM  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms McDonald. 

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, before resuming the questioning of 5 

Mr Harte - and may I indicate that this morning there is what I thought was going to 

be the final topic of questions for Mr Harte. Can I just give you an indication that the 

inquiry has received this morning some more - some additional documents relevant 

to some of the evidence that Mr Harte has given over the last couple of days. The 

counsel assisting team are reviewing those documents. We need to make an 10 

assessment of whether anything is relevant and then download to HighQ, and then 

obviously the parties need an opportunity to have a look at that. 

 

On that basis, your Honour - and what we propose to do is complete or ask Mr Harte 

some questions this morning about this other topic and then adjourn Mr Harte's 15 

evidence until sometime next week. By that time the documents will be on HighQ, 

the parties can review it, and his evidence can conclude then - or hopefully at least 

conclude. 

 

Today we had organised another witness commencing at 2 o'clock. So the proposal is 20 

I will ask questions about this next topic, we will then ask you to adjourn the 

proceedings and resume again at 2 o'clock this afternoon. I have had a discussion 

with the various representatives, and it appears at the moment that the best time for 

Mr Harte to resume his evidence would be Tuesday. Again, we've just got to also 

double-check with other witnesses, et cetera, but we are keen for Mr Harte's 25 

evidence, as it will be part heard, to be concluded next week.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. If it were to be Tuesday, does that pose - I take it 

that's been discussed with those at the bar table and Tuesday is as convenient as can 

be, if I can put it that way? 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Where it's juggling a number of balls in the air at the same 

time, it's just we - I think we've given an indication to two other witnesses.  

 

COMMISSIONER: The life of counsel assisting. All right. Okay. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: So we just need to kind of balance everything, but at least at the 

moment we've got at least one period of time next week where all the ducks are in a 

row for Mr Harte's evidence to be concluded.  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: Okay. All right. And in relation to timing generally, after today 

we have three weeks left. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 45 

COMMISSIONER: Are we confident we're going to finish? 
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MS McDONALD: Yes. The other thing that we were - just went through our 

minds - and we haven't looked at this any further - we've got two weeks off after next 

week. That was primarily because of difficulties with the availability of certain 

counsel.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: If we can identify a witness - and I use this term in not a 

disparaging way - but who is relatively innocuous - 

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Well, now they'll know who they are if they come in now, 

won't they?  

 

MS RICHARDSON: That's all you can pray for as a witness. 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: I understand. 

 

MS McDONALD: It may be that we might be able to schedule that witness and, 

again not in a disparaging way, maybe a junior - 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - junior member of a team representing a party may be able to be 

present and ask any questions during that time.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Well - and as I've done the whole time, until I expect the last 

witness on the last day, no one's being excused and the like. All right. Well, you will 

all understand the reason why I'm asking, but we need to finish when we need - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: We need to finish. Okay. I'm content to do that. Does anyone 

wish to say anything at this point about any of that? No. Well, we don't have 

Mr Emmett today, so I'm not - not looking - I'm not looking at the screen for no 

reason. All right. You heard all that, Councillor. All right. Well, let's proceed with 35 

the last topic. Councillor, you're still on your oath that you took on Wednesday 

morning.  

 

<MATTHEW WILLIAM HARTE, ON FORMER OATH  

 40 

MR HARTE: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. 

 

MS McDONALD: Just before I start asking questions, yesterday I asked some 45 

questions and read from a document which we had just been provided with by the 

New South Wales Electoral Commission.  
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COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: It was the form 750A from 2021. That has now been downloaded 

and the document identification is INQ.080.001.0001. 5 

 

COMMISSIONER: I'll just mark that document MFI 29 for the moment, and it can 

be tendered if you wish to in due course.  

 

<MFI #29 FORM 750A FROM 2021 PROVIDED BY NEW SOUTH WALES 10 

ELECTORAL COMMISSION WITH DOCUMENT ID INQ.080.001.0001  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me just for a minute. Sorry, I was just confirming the 15 

document ID number because we didn't have it yesterday. Now, Mr Harte, the topic 

that I want to ask you some questions about now is code of conduct complaints.  

 

MR HARTE: Yes. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: As I think you've been either reading or occasionally tuning in to 

the inquiry, you know that one of the topics that the Commissioner is looking into 

is - are code of conduct complaints.  

 

MR HARTE: Yes. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: And indeed, before the inquiry there is a spreadsheet which has 

been provided by the council which is a record of code of conduct complaints, I 

think, made since about - sometime October last year.  

 30 

MR HARTE: Okay. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, looking at that spreadsheet, you've made a number of 

complaints? 

 35 

MR HARTE: I have.  

 

MS McDONALD: As at 14 August 2025, I counted 36 complaints that you have 

made.  

 40 

MR HARTE: Sounds about right.  

 

MS McDONALD: Sounds right? 

 

MR HARTE: Yes. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: And of those 36, 35 concern a particular councillor.  
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MR HARTE: I take that as the case. I don't remember exactly, but I take that as so.  

 

MS McDONALD: But that - 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Sounds about right? 

 

MR HARTE: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: - sounds about right. Now, I want to - do you remember - it may 10 

have been the first day you gave evidence - I referred you to a new document issued 

by the OLG, Free Speech in Local Government in New South Wales.  

 

MR HARTE: Yes. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: Have you had a chance - probably not - over the last couple of 

days to read it? 

 

MR HARTE: No, I haven't. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: All right. I'm going to ask you some questions about a couple of 

the complaints that you have lodged.  

 

MR HARTE: Sure.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: And take you back to some of the considerations set out in that 

free speech document. All right? 

 

MR HARTE: Sure.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Now, the first matter I want to - the first complaint arises from 

an article which concerned - and when I say "an article", an article published on the 

ABC website - concerning serious cashflow problems facing the council.  

 

MR HARTE: Correct. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: And you may remember that there was that article which referred 

to a report to council which set out concerns. Particularly, I think, it was with the 

non-restricted cash reserves.  

 40 

MR HARTE: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, I'm going to take Mr Harte to some - to the complaint. We 

need to go into closed session. Sorry, based on - 

 45 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Emmett's objection - Mr Emmett's submission the other 

day. Yes. 
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MS McDONALD: Look, could you just excuse me for a minute.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: Could I raise this.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: We've received an updated spreadsheet. Some of these 10 

complaints have been updated in the spreadsheet and it refers to: 

 

"With outcome to be reported to the council meeting." 

 

Which I think is next week. Now, in those circumstances, if that's the updated 15 

information we've received - 

 

COMMISSIONER: I suppose the challenge is the spreadsheet - one can't get into a 

particular row. But what is the prejudice if this is done in public, Mr Parish?  

  20 

MR PARISH: We've got to make sure that the integrity of the process is maintained. 

That means people who make complaints that are confidential remain confidential 

(indistinct). And we do not want, as counsel, for there to be a chilling effect on 

people making complaints where what they perceive to be confidential may then be 

disclosed in this forum.  25 

  

COMMISSIONER: That goes to the identity of the complainant.  

 

MR PARISH: Quite.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: I understand that point. Is there any other prejudice if this was 

to be done in public?  

 

MR PARISH: With this particular one, it is - 

 35 

COMMISSIONER: Just in general. Leaving aside this particular one, but more 

generally.  

 

MR PARISH: In general there may be. It may be a matter of each complaint has its 

own particular complexities and outcomes that we want to make sure - if it can be 40 

put into the open forum without having any prejudice, that may be fine. But we want 

to be able to consider the possibility that there may be outcomes unforeseen in the 

heat of the inquiry that may affect the way the complaint process works. 

 

MS McDONALD: Could I just - 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 
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MS McDONALD: - maybe indicate - my intention is to refer Mr Harte to four 

complaints that he has made from the updated spreadsheet. Two of those appear to 

have - the outcome is: 

 5 

"To be reported to the next council meeting." 

 

One of them has been resolved by alternative means and - sorry, if I can just try and 

read this. Complaints 2, 4 and 8 all are to be reported to the council meeting on 

29 October. And if I can - and I think I've already indicated this - the complainant is 10 

Mr - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, and the confidential regime about the identity of the 

complainant doesn't apply to councillors, but - I certainly understand the point about 

the identity of the complainant for people other than councillors. I'm not at the 15 

moment sure I am grasping what you say, Mr Parish, is the risk to the integrity of the 

process if this were to be done in this forum, but you say that might need to be 

looked at on a complaint by complaint basis, maybe.  

 

What I'll do for today - but I am fast approaching the time where we need a concrete 20 

solution to this - whether it is to be done in open at all during the next three weeks, 

whether it's to be done in private and I make orders releasing it the moment before I 

deliver my report, I'm not sure, but I do want to have this resolved sooner rather than 

later, because at the moment I'm just not sure I'm - if there is a genuine prejudice to 

ongoing investigations, I want to be alive to that. I don't want to trip those up in any 25 

way, but this is a public inquiry. The legislation tells us, prima facie, it's to be done 

all in public unless I'm satisfied there's good reason, and I just need to be satisfied 

that the good reason is ongoing. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: So perhaps on your side, Mr Parish - it seems likely to me that 

this is going to come up again next week, so we need to have a plan before that 

happens. All right. Pursuant to section 12B of the Royal Commissions Act, I direct 

that the next passage of evidence be taken in private, that the transcript of this 35 

passage of evidence not be published otherwise than in accordance with the usual 

order, that those who are presently in the hearing room can remain in the hearing 

room. And I'll just wait to be told that we're in private session.  

 

<THE HEARING MOVED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 10.27 AM 40 
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.03 PM 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Your Honour, Mr Nadan has been recalled to give evidence.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, your Honour - Commissioner, did you wish for him to 10 

be re-sworn?  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. I think that's appropriate.  

 

<VISHWA NADAN RE-SWORN 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MR D'ARVILLE: Commissioner, I should probably say that I appear for Mr 

Nadan. 20 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you. 

 

MR D'ARVILLE: D'Arville is my name.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: Mr Nadan, it probably seems like ages ago, you were here in 

another hearing room and you gave evidence.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: When you gave evidence at that point, you were the chief 

financial officer for Liverpool City Council? 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: You're still in that position? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: One of the reasons for calling you today is that the inquiry has 40 

found or obtained some further update on the financial position of the council. This 

mainly has arisen from some reports which it appears you have prepared. So what I 

want to do is ask you some questions about the '24/'25 financial year and also the 

current financial year. Now, the '24/'25 financial year, there - in June 2024 there was 

an estimate or an anticipated budget surplus for that financial year? 45 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 
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MS McDONALD: And was that anticipated financial or budget surplus about 

2.6 million? 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, with last year's financial accounts, are we at the position 

currently that the financial statements for that year have been prepared? 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. It's been prepared and has been audited, and we have 10 

received a (indistinct) not an opinion, but a - a report for engagement - closing 

report, where the auditors have indicated that they will be issuing an unqualified 

audit opinion.  

 

MS McDONALD: And is it the procedure that those financial statements are going 15 

to be presented to the council at the next council meeting? 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And is it the procedure that once they're so presented and the 20 

council resolved to adopt them or something along those lines, they then become the 

official financial statements of the council for that financial year? 

  

MR NADAN: That's correct. Once the council adopts it, the audit office will issue 

the audit opinion. That gets incorporated in the financial statements. That becomes 25 

the final, and we lodge that with the Office of Local Government (indistinct).  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Now, while that process was being undertaken, as part of 

your role you regularly provide finance reports? 

 30 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And those finance reports, is it - they initially go to the 

governance committee, at one of their meetings? 

 35 

MR NADAN: Yes. So this is an update that I provide monthly to the governance 

committee, which includes all the councillors, of course, and also the audit and risk 

committee. But we are required to present a formal budget review report to the 

council every quarter. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: So that will - the first quarter review goes to council in November 

meeting. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: All right.  
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MR NADAN: But in between they get interim updates from me so that they don't 

get any surprises. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And that quarterly - I think you described it - a budget 

update? 5 

 

MR NADAN: Monthly budget update, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: We've got the monthly financial reports.  

 10 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: I thought you just referred to some quarterly report.  

 

MR NADAN: That's a formal budget review report that goes to the council. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: And for this financial year, is the first one anticipated to be 

presented to the November meeting of the council? 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, I want to ask you some questions about your 

finance report for August of this year. Would you please bring up 

INQ.072.001.0005. Yes, please. Sorry. Right. This is the Governance Agenda 

Addendum for the committee meeting on 17 September. Would you please go 25 

through to page 3 - 0003. And at the top of that screen you can see the Finance 

Report - August 2025? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: If we move down a little bit - stop there. We've got report by 

you, approved by Mr Portelli? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: If we then move to the executive summary. This report seems to 

deal with the 2024/2025 unaudited financial result? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: And also you deal with '25/'26 budget performance to date.  

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - maybe if we can just look at the executive summary to 45 

begin with. The next paragraph, as you've outlined, draft financial statements have 
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been prepared. They go to the ARIC, and then they will be presented to the council at 

the meeting next week.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Now, looking at the next paragraph - and if we can move a little 

bit - yes, that's great: 

 

"The draft results indicate a net operating result deficit of $10.4 million before 

capital grants and contributions, compared with the budgeted surplus of $2.6 million 10 

and a projected [third quarter] deficit of $13.1 million." 

 

And then you identify what the deficit was primarily driven by. So just pausing there. 

At the time of the preparation of this report, instead of being the anticipated 

2.6 million surplus, it's now anticipated a deficit of about 10.4 million? 15 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then with the dot points, you indicate what it's 

being - what's basically caused it.  20 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: There's a number of matters that we've discussed previously. The 

gain from the sale of 3 Hoxton Park Road didn't go ahead? 25 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: The next one: 

 30 

"The $3.7 million shortfall in the financial assistance grant advance payment" - 

 

can I just pause there and ask you some questions. Every year the council get - it's a 

grant from the Federal Government? 

 35 

MR NADAN: Correct. Yes. So it's all councils in Australia - the funding is approved 

by the Commonwealth. It goes to respective state bodies like the New South Wales 

Grants Commission. The Grants Commission then allocates money across the 

councils in New South Wales. So the percentage basically varies, depending on how 

much the Commonwealth decides to give. What we had budgeted for was 40 

85 per cent. What was approved - we received was only 50 per cent. 

 

MS McDONALD: 50? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. It doesn't mean we're going lose the money. We will get it, but 45 

we get 50 per cent in next year. 
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MS McDONALD: So when the budget was prepared for '24/'25, it was on the 

assumption that you would be getting 85 per cent of the grant on 30 June - 

 

MR NADAN: '25. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: - 2025? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. It was based on what we got last year. 

 

MS McDONALD: And as you said, whatever the decision body is, they decided 10 

you're not going to get your 85 per cent, you'll get your 50 per cent on 30 June 2025? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: And that led, as you've recorded to, a 3.7 million shortfall? 15 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, you gave evidence about the next dot point on 

the last occasion: 20 

 

"Provisions for termination payments ... and the public inquiry expenses".  

 

The provision for termination payments - my recollection of your evidence was that 

it was flagged that at least two directors, two executive assistants and maybe one or 25 

two other roles were to be made redundant.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: The payment of any redundancy payments were going to occur 30 

in this financial year.  

 

MR NADAN: Payments will, but it will be charged against the provision that we 

created last year. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: Taking it by steps. So it was anticipated the payment would be in 

this financial year, but what you did was create a provision for that particular - those 

payments? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: And that means the impact on the budget was felt last year? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: And then the way you've described it - there's been a provision 

also made for expenses for this inquiry? 
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MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then the final one. The 1.4 million increase in council's 

equity in Civic Risk Mutual - excuse me - Civic Risk Mutual, is that an entity that a 5 

number of councils created and which basically provided, like, a self-insurance 

mechanism? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. And the profits are to be shared with the councils. 

(Indistinct) for the year. That's the - 1.4 was attributed to us. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: And that means 1.4 had to be contributed? 

 

MR NADAN: That - they increased the equities (indistinct) as income. Doesn't come 

in cash. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

MR NADAN: So we look at - when we do the value of our shares in the Civic Risk 

Mutual - end of the financial year, that has gone up by $1.4 million because they 20 

made a profit.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

MR NADAN: So we need to record in our books there's income - the $1.4 million 25 

non-cash income - and our - whereas the - the value of the shares that we hold in 

Civic Risk - in the asset goes up. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: How does that affect the deficit result? 

 

MR NADAN: It will actually improve.  

  

COMMISSIONER: That will - 35 

 

MR NADAN: The deficit will reduce.  

  

COMMISSIONER: They'll reduce it?  

 40 

MR NADAN: (Indistinct) income. Yes. 

  

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, it reduces income? 45 
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MR NADAN: Reduces the deficit. That was the question. It's reduce - it increases 

the income - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

  5 

MR NADAN: - but it reduces the deficit. If it was a surplus then it will increase the 

surplus. 

  

MS McDONALD: So looking at those four dot points, one - first, second and third 

dot point are impacting on the budget - 10 

 

MR NADAN: It reduces income. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. While the fourth one actually has a counter-effect of 

increasing it? 15 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: By about 1.4 million? 

 20 

MR NADAN: That's right.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 

MR NADAN: And these were the key variations. There were smaller ones which 25 

were not reported there, plus and minus, but these are the key ones. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, if we could go to page 4, please. And this is where you 

provide your report for the '24/'25 in a little bit more detail. And if we could move 

down, after Recommendation to Report, there you identify the key variations. And as 30 

you flagged, there were one or two additional ones that weren't that substantial. What 

I wanted to ask you about - if you keep on going, keep on going a little bit more, and 

stop there - as at 30 June, the council had 416 million in cash and cash investments, 

and you've got the amount for externally restricted, an amount for internally 

restricted, and then the unrestricted reserves was down to 2.8 million? 35 

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: So as at 30 June you hadn't run out of your unrestricted reserves, 

you had an amount there of 2.8? 40 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: The next comment: 

 45 

"At reporting date, some matters with Built Development remained unresolved. As a 

result, the expected $7.3 million in rights fees was not received until August 2025." 
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MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, this was in respect of - I think it was an option given to 

Built that they could exercise, and upon exercising it was then going to be a transfer 5 

of council land to them.  

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: My recollection is that transaction was anticipated to occur in 10 

that financial year, and you're commenting there that it didn't? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: There was some kind of delay, and you actually got - it's 15 

described as "rights fees", but in substance is it actually some money for sale of 

land? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. Proceeds from sale of land. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: And so that's - I'll put it broadly - dealt with not in that 

financial year but the current financial year? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: It's a timing issue? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. So we are pushing for them to give us the money before 30 June 

so that our unrestricted reserves look better, but unfortunately we didn't get that. 

That's - well, we got it this year and it will actually boost our cash this year.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR NADAN: Everything being equal. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And would that go into unrestricted reserve? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - sorry, just for a - you then go on - if we keep on going. 

You refer to the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial 

Reporting, where a council can elect to report against performance indicators.  

 45 

MR NADAN: Correct. 
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MS McDONALD: And you gave some evidence, again on these ratios, on the last 

occasion. If we go to the next page - and if we can try and get that table as a whole. 

We probably - yes. Great. Thanks. You've very helpfully colour-coded it. And if we 

look at the column OLG Benchmark, where it's coloured red, are they the particular 

ratios where you haven't met the OLG benchmark? 5 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And again, just reminding us - the first one was the operating 

performance ratio. That measures the extent to which a council has succeeded in 10 

containing operating expenditure within operating revenue? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: And it's - hopefully that's going to be a number greater than 15 

zero? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. So basically it's surplus or deficit. If you're in surplus it's 

green, if you're in deficit it's red. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 

MR NADAN: Bear in mind that also includes all these non-cash accounting entries 

that's taken into account in calculating a surplus or deficit. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: In particular depreciation, which is about $57 million. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you raised that on the last occasion, the effect of that 30 

depreciation.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Then the next one is the debt service cover ratio.  35 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And that measures the availability of operating cash to service 

debt, including interest, principal and lease payments? 40 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: And that should be greater than 2? 

 45 

MR NADAN: That's OLG benchmark. 
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MS McDONALD: And the actual is, what, less than that?  

 

MR NADAN: One point - 

 

MS McDONALD: That - 1.68.  5 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: So not a great discrepancy? 

 10 

MR NADAN: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then the final one is the rates and annual charges 

outstanding percentage, which - my note was - used to assess impacts of uncollected 

rates and annual charges on liquidity. 15 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. So if you don't collect it, then there's no money to pay for other 

things. So if you keep it below the benchmark, it helps council's liquidity position. 

So the higher the number, then our liquidity position is going to (indistinct).  

 20 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: But having said that, that five per cent was set apparently 30 years 

ago and is not representative of -  

 25 

MS McDONALD: It's never been updated? 

 

MR NADAN: - of the current economic - yes. 

  

MS McDONALD: All right. But looking at it - the actual was 7.49. So comparing it 30 

with the benchmark, albeit it might be 20 or 30 years old, you haven't complied with 

that? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. But it's trending down. Previous year was higher. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: Okay. So trending - 

 

MR NADAN: Down. 

 

MS McDONALD: - in a - down. 40 

 

MR NADAN: (Indistinct). 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Now - 

 45 

COMMISSIONER: I think you asked you this question in a similar table when you 

were here some time ago, but -  
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MR NADAN: Yes. Same thing. Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Do any of those measures give you, as the CFO, cause for 

concern or anything that you think needs particular attention in the coming years? 5 

  

MR NADAN: I guess as far as the liquidity - the liquidity ones are importance ones. 

The unrestricted (indistinct) ratio debt cover and the rates are important because it 

actually tells us how the business is performing. The own source of revenue is more 

to - is - I guess is helpful for regional councils which don't have a lot of ratepayers 10 

and - and that's something to measure, because that will depend on - more on 

(indistinct) grants. Operating ratio, I think we explained - it's the - not fit - you know, 

fits every council's situation, especially us - in a growth council, a lot of 

infrastructure given to us - 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: (Indistinct) depreciation. 

 

MR NADAN: (Indistinct) depreciation, and hard to meet the benchmark. Plus 

the - you know, the appetite to do a special ratio variation if we have to. We haven't 

done special rate variation for the last - last one I remember was before I joined the 20 

council, and that was to do - or fund capital infrastructure projects, not to assist on 

the operating side. So as you build on new infrastructure and - and we are in the 

middle of that - we're building a lot of infrastructure. And there is - it is funded 

through either grants or section 7.11 contributions, but there is an operating cost 

attached to it after you build infrastructure. And the ratepayers need to pay for that. 25 

So we have been managing the business, not asking the ratepayers to pay extra. I 

think that's the point.  

  

COMMISSIONER: Is that something that's - that needs to be kept under review, 

going forward, given the nature of -  30 

 

MR NADAN: Exactly. Because if you want to - 

  

COMMISSIONER: (Indistinct). 

 35 

MR NADAN: - improve the operating ratio, you need to increase your income. The 

only way - majority of the income comes from rates, so you need to look at a special 

rate variation. A lot of councils in Sydney are doing it - significant amounts, but we 

haven't - we don't have an appetite to do it. I guess council needs to resolve whether 

they want to do it or not (indistinct) there is no appetite.  40 

  

COMMISSIONER: As you say, it's a matter for the governing body, but is it 

something that you, as CFO, would suggest should be - there should be an open mind 

about it, kept under review - 

 45 

MR NADAN: Exactly. Yes. Because there's cost added as the infrastructure grows. 

Maintenance and operating - I mean, the libraries there - it - the council, when we 
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opened, required extra $2 million every year to run the place. The same with the new 

library here. Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And is a lot of that infrastructure coming online or will be 

coming online in the - in the next five years, say? 5 

  

MR NADAN: Yes. So we got 160 million from the State Government under the 

WestInvestment infrastructure grants. That's Woodward Park, Light Horse Park, 

Carnes Hill swimming pool. As you know, swimming pool doesn't make money, so 

it's going to come from our general reserves to pay for that. So they need to consider 10 

that seriously. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Can I turn to this financial year. And I want to jump to 

another document before returning to this document. Would you bring up, please, 

INQ.016.001.0004. Yes, please. Now, can you see there we've got the first page of 15 

the long-term financial plan for '25/'26? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Would you please go to page 7 - sorry, _0007. And this was the 20 

summary of the net operating result for grants and contributions. And maybe if we 

move it up a little bit. Terrific. There it is anticipated that there's going to be an 

$800,000 surplus.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, also within this long-term financial plan there's a 

section on a pessimistic budget scenario? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Would you go through to _0028. And there you've got a number 

of variations - or possible significant or medium risks that would have an impact on 

the budget.  

 35 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And one of the ones you do anticipate there - can you see the 

third row down, Grants and Contributions? 

 40 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And you've got: 

 

"Council loses case against Bankstown Council and only gets $2.8 million instead of 45 

$2.8 million plus $5.1 million expected in '25/'26." 
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And the impact was going to be 5.1 million? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: You assessed it as "possible and significant" and the impact was 5 

"medium"? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Can you remind us, what was the distinction between 2.8 and 10 

5.1? Did one arise from some kind of court case or court claim? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes, I have to go a little bit late in the years to explain what 

happened. So in 2018/2019, around that time - that particular bridge, which is 

Voyager Point pedestrian bridge - was handed over by the Commonwealth 15 

Government to Liverpool City Council and Canterbury-Bankstown Council as joint 

owners.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 2.30 PM 

 20 
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.42 PM  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms McDonald. 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Nadan, you were speaking about the issue of the bridge 5 

between Liverpool City Council and Canterbury-Bankstown Council, and I think we 

got to the stage where you said that there was some form of court case that was going 

to start and a couple of days beforehand the dispute settled.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, can I ask you, as part of that settlement, did Liverpool City 

Council receive a payment of money? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. For the initial repairs that they owed us. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: And I think you indicated that was around 2.8 million? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: The previously anticipated arrangement, whereby an additional 

sum would be paid and ownership of the bridge would go to Liverpool with that 

additional payment - 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Was that agreed to or was that abandoned between the parties? 

 

MR NADAN: I think it was abandoned, that idea - 

 30 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

MR NADAN: - because in preparation for the court case there was another 

consultant engaged which looked at the ongoing repairs, what the quantum would be, 

and the discounted amount or net present value of that came to a significant higher 35 

number than $2.5 million that the Bankstown (indistinct) first place. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: So that's where the flip went. So instead of - so basically the 5.1 was 40 

almost 50 per cent of the 50 - or the number they came up with. What we budgeted 

for was 50 per cent of that.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So they looked - 

 45 

MR NADAN: Very conservative number. 
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COMMISSIONER: They looked forward at the maintenance cost - 

 

MR NADAN: Correct.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - got it to present value through a DCF or whatever -  5 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - other (indistinct) was applied, and then that was - 

 10 

MR NADAN: Yes. So they came up with number, and we said, okay, 50 per cent is 

Bankstown, and what we budgeted for was 50 per cent of their share, which was a 

very conservative number. But because the position has changed, we won't get that 

money any more, because they had to pay us a significant amount of money. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: And they're not willing to do that? 

 

MR NADAN: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  20 

 

MR NADAN: And now, I think, under the - they're working on a maintenance 

agreement where they will have a plan and it will be subject to reviews and are - that 

we both share, going forward. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: All right. That's been negotiated - that's down the track? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: The immediate impact - 30 

 

MR NADAN: Is this 5.1. 

 

MS McDONALD: - was that built into the budget for this financial year was an 

expectation of 5.1 million being received from Canterbury? 35 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And that won't eventuate? 

 40 

MR NADAN: Will not happen. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And that hits the current financial year? 45 

 

MR NADAN: Into red, into deficit. 
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COMMISSIONER: '25/'26? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: Because you expected to get it this financial year? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. But - okay. So if - again putting it broadly, with your 10 

pessimistic budget it was anticipated that you might not get those funds? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute. And on the pessimistic 15 

budget, if that came - if that occurred, the various risks you've identified, you 

wouldn't have the 2.6 million surplus, you would have an 8.3 million - deficit, sorry.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

COMMISSIONER: In '25/'26? 

 

MR NADAN: '25/'26. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: For '25/'26.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. There was no 2.5. It would be .8 because the - the base - base - 

 30 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, I've got my years mixed up.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: I'll start again. For '25/'26 - Friday afternoon, Mr Nadan, and in a 35 

long week. '25/'26, it was the $800,000 surplus?  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: With your pessimistic budget and the various risks identified, 40 

instead of having the 800,000 surplus you'd have an 8.3 million deficit? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Now, can I move back to what you were looking at at 45 

the September governance committee meeting.  
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COMMISSIONER: Just before you move to this - counsel assisting has drawn your 

attention to one of the risks in the pessimistic scenario that we've spoken about, 

being the bridge. Are there any others that you're aware of at the moment that are 

likely to impact the '25/'26 position as we sit here today? 

 5 

MR NADAN: Not - not yet. Not yet. So whatever I've identified is in the September 

report, which are the full list (indistinct).  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

MR NADAN: And hopefully the list doesn't get bigger.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And hopefully - 15 

 

MR NADAN: The list doesn't get bigger. 

 

MS McDONALD: Can we bring up again INQ.072.001.0005. And if we can go 

to - yes, if we move down the bottom. Stop. We've now, in this report, moved to 20 

'25/'26. And if we just look at the summarily in the first two lines: 

 

"Based on the risks identified below and their potential budget impacts" - 

 

instead of the surplus of 800,000, you're looking at a deficit of 9.1 million? 25 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. This is the August report, isn't it? 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. We're coming to September in a sec.  

 30 

MR NADAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we go across the page, there's three risks that you 

identify - and I'll come back to these in a little bit more detail - accounting for 

software upgrades, the FAG operating grant advance, and 35 Scott Street office 35 

make-good expenses.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And when you prepared this report, the issue with the 5.1 million 40 

coming from the bridge either hadn't crystallised or you didn't incorporate it in this 

report? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. I looked at the other major assumptions at that point in time. I 

should have picked it up in August, but I probably overlooked it. Yes. 45 
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MS McDONALD: All right. So if we - and I'll take you just in a couple of minutes 

to the September report, but if we can move to page 7 of that report. Under Cash 

Reserves, as at 31 August you've got the 23.9 million in unrestricted reserves? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: And then under Outstanding Rates you've got 163 million, of 

which 10.8 related to previous years. All right. Now, if we then go to the September 

report, which was provided to the governance committee meeting on 15 October -  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry. Sorry. This is the August report for the September 

meeting?  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 15 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Okay. All right. Sorry. Just before we leave this, can we just go 

back up to the - page 6. I just want to make sure I'm understanding the grants. Down 

a bit, please. Yes. Thank you. So the second item there, that's the 85 versus 50 that 20 

you described to me earlier. Can you just step me through - so the budget assumed 

85 per cent advance payment? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: So the assumption being made there is, what, you'll get 

85 per cent of the whole grant as a lump sum at the beginning? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. So councils, on average, gets about $10 million (indistinct) 

grants every year. Percentages differ. So for '25/'26 we assumed we're going to get 30 

85 per cent of the 10 - 85 per cent. 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, can I just -  

 

COMMISSIONER: In -  35 

 

MR NADAN: In the budget. 

 

MS McDONALD: On 30 June 2026?  

 40 

MR NADAN: Yes. So we assumed that in the budget we're going to get 85 per cent 

in advance. And remember, last year we also expected 85 per cent. So the 15 per cent 

from last year would come in this year and you'll get another 85 per cent, so that's the 

100 per cent you're going to get in '25/'26. But that didn't happen. So we got 

50 per cent there. So we're going to get 50 per cent of that into this financial year. 45 

And if we don't get anything in advance we get short of - like, 50 per cent, there will 

be a short - shortfall. That's how it works.  
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COMMISSIONER: You're nodding. I'm lost. 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: So can we just - 

 

MS McDONALD: I'll try and do - every year you get this grant which emanates 

from the Federal Government? 

 10 

MR NADAN: Correct.  

 

COMMISSIONER: It goes through the Grants Commission, like all federal grants? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Traditionally - and so let's say for a financial year you're 

expected to get $100.  20 

 

MR NADAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: The way it traditionally was paid - let's say it's the financial year 

starting 1 July 2024. 25 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: On 30 June you would get $85? 

 30 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: So the $85 was budgeted in your '23/'24 account? When you - 

 

MR NADAN: Yes.  35 

 

COMMISSIONER: As income?  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry?  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: As income that year? Because you'd budgeted - 

 

MR NADAN: As income. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - to receive it on the last day? 45 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. Yes. 
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MS McDONALD: And then for year '24/'25 you would include 15 per cent? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: And then the amended 85 per cent coming in on 30 June.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I see.  

 

MR NADAN: Will make 100 per cent for the year. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: And what has thrown - I'll say "thrown you" - is last budget, 

instead of getting your anticipated 85 per cent on 30 June '25 - 

 

MR NADAN: '25, yes. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: - you only got 50 per cent? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 20 

MS McDONALD: Now, the good news is you get 50 per cent of that amount 

this year? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: But your issue is, "What am I going to get on 30 June 2026"? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: And at the moment you don't know whether it's going to be 30 

85 per cent, 50 per cent or what it's going to be? 

 

MR NADAN: What we are flagging in here - that we will not get anything in 

advance. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

MR NADAN: That's why I'm saying there is a shortfall of $4.8 million. The reason 

being - we got a letter from the Grants Commission in August, and that was 

presented - that - for information to the councillors in the September meeting, which 40 

says that they are looking or reviewing the method - this is the Grants 

Commission - reviewing the method in terms of how they're going to allocate to the 

council - the other councils. And as you know, traditionally they pay us on the last 

day, almost - 30 June, they pay us that. And because of this review, they're saying, 

"Don't rely on this anymore. You might not get anything."  45 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. 
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MR NADAN: This - in advance, but they'll give us in the following year. 

 

MS McDONALD: So for this financial year you're going to get your 50 per cent - 

 5 

MR NADAN: That's it. 

 

MS McDONALD: - hangover from last financial year.  

 

MR NADAN: That's it. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: But whether you were going to get that lovely payment on 

30 June '26 - 

 

MR NADAN: A question mark. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: Question mark, which means that amount has now become a 

risk.  

 

MR NADAN: That's right.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: In the previous financial year's statement? 

 

MS McDONALD: No, this financial year's statement.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Because you're not getting it in advance for next year? 

 

MS McDONALD: At the - it was anticipated you would - the council would get an 

advance on 30 June '26.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And now the letter from August says all bets are off.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: "We may not be paying anything in advance now."  

 

COMMISSIONER: So the effect of that is that even though you had budgeted to 

receive that on 30 June '26, that is a grant for the '26/'27 year.  40 

 

MR NADAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Correct? So - but you won't book it as income in the 

'25/'26 year because you won't get it in the '25/'26 year.  45 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. That's right. 
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COMMISSIONER: Rather, the whole grant will be received in the '26/'27 year. 

 

MR NADAN: Following year. Correct.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: And is it paid, like other Commonwealth grants to state 

agencies, monthly? 

 

MR NADAN: No, no. This is quarterly.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Quarterly. All right. Thank you. Yes, I'm up to speed. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Could we bring up, please, INQ.073.001.0003.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Again, Mr Nadan, that's not - that's a timing issue, isn't it? 15 

 

MR NADAN: That's right.  

 

COMMISSIONER: It's not a - you're not going to get the money, it's a, when it's 

going to come.  20 

 

MR NADAN: Every council in New South Wales struggles with this because they're 

not (indistinct).  

 

COMMISSIONER: If we haven't got that letter that Mr Nadan's referred to, we 25 

should - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yet. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - have that before me, I think. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, please. Sorry.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And any reports from the Grants Commission about this grant 

as well. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: This is - if you keep on going down a little bit - the committee 

meeting, 15 October of this year, second book. And if we can move through to 

_0003. This is your - the finance report you prepared for September 2025.  

 40 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, just looking at the executive summary on that page - stop. 

You say there: 

 45 

"Based on the estimated budget impact of these [key financial risks that you've 

identified], net costs is potentially projected at a [4.2] million deficit." 
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Now, if we then move to page 4 and we go down the bottom, first, to the risks - now, 

the first risk - and this was identified in the August report - was this accounting for 

software upgrades? 

 5 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And again, does this result from receiving a new guideline or 

something as to how you treat the cost of the software upgrade? 

 10 

MR NADAN: That's right. Subscription-based. 

 

MS McDONALD: It was - sorry? 

 

MR NADAN: It's subscription-based. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR NADAN: Traditionally it's posted on premises and we - council owns the asset, 

but now it's cloud-based. We just use it. So it's a licensing kind of thing, so it's - you 20 

don't own it. 

 

MS McDONALD: Hold on.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So it's no longer a capital expenditure. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. Traditionally it will be capital expenditure and depreciated. This 

time it will be operating expenditure. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. So you're increasing your costs? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. No cash impact, though, because we had already budgeted 

for that in the capital expenditure for '25/'26. Now we are saying it will not be 35 

classified as capital expenditure, it's going to be operating expenditure. We have to 

go through this rigour of, you know - there are some further analysis we need to do 

in terms of - I think the guidelines only allow you to capitalise cost of the vendors 

working on it, but the other costs, which is the staff costs and external 

consultants - we have to expense it.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: But again, this is a worst-case scenario. This is based on the budget. 

Depends how much they deliver during the year. Then this number will be changed. 45 
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MS McDONALD: All right. If we go to the second page - you again identify the 

future assistance grant - operating grant.  

 

MR NADAN: That's right.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: And that's the same position that you just gave evidence about.  

 

MR NADAN: That's it. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Then number 3 is the 35 Scott Street office make-good expenses. 10 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, at the moment the council had a lease, was a tenant? 

 15 

MR NADAN: No, council was leasing that building. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Sorry, that's what I meant. 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. Yes. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: They're now leaving the building? 

 

MR NADAN: Council is - yes, the lease is expiring and we need to make good. 

 25 

MS McDONALD: Make good. 

 

MR NADAN: Because the fit-out is tier 1. I think there is negotiations still 

happening - whether we will leave it, but the decision is by - depending how much 

we leave behind, then we probably would not be able to pay that amount.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: Again, depending on the outcome of the negotiations. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: So again, you identified the risk. And when you identify the risk, 

the figure that you identify, is it like the worst-case scenario or - 

 

MR NADAN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: I get it from the project managers, that term - this is the worst-case 

scenario. (Indistinct) it in - we're still talking, so - 

 45 

MS McDONALD: And then in 4 you've now included the bridge.  
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MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, if we jump back to page 4, please. Now, you've got the 

effect there. And when you've got potential adjustments, are they adjustments if the 

risks occur and occur at the worst-case scenario? 5 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So it's going to have an impact - you're not going to 

get - you're going to be down 9.9 million? 10 

 

MR NADAN: In income, yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Your expenditure's going to be up - 

 15 

MR NADAN: Up. 

 

MS McDONALD: - by 5.1? 

 

MR NADAN: Right. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: And with the net cost, that results in that projected deficit of the 

14.2 million? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Can I ask you, the - in the previous report there was the reference 

to the Built money coming in from the sale of land.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Some time in August. Does that mean that the council actually 

received funds from Built, from the exercise of that option? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: Or the transfer of the land. That money that comes in, does it 

affect the budget? 

 

MR NADAN: No, it doesn't impact the budget. It's - as I've said, it's deemed as a 40 

proceed from sale. So we dispose the asset - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

MR NADAN: - from our books that we own and we get that money, it goes into the 45 

bank. So balance is between the assets. It doesn't come in the income and 

expenditure statement. However, if there was a case where we were making a profit 
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on sale, that would have come and had a budget impact as - again, on sale. Or the 

other way around, loss on sale if there was an - the proceeds was less than the book 

value. But in this case we got the cash, no impact on P&L. So no impact on the 

budget. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: And the impact on your balance sheet, is it your cash at bank 

would go up? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: And a long-term - 

 

MR NADAN: Your assets will go down. Land would go down. 

 

MS McDONALD: Land would go down. All right. But does it have an effect on - if 15 

we jump now to page 5. Keep on going, sorry. Yes, there. Does it have an effect on 

the cash reserve? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. So if we look at the August report, the unrestricted cash was 

about 28 million. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: Hold on, let me just double - 

 

COMMISSIONER: It was 20-something? 

 25 

MR NADAN: 28 million.  

 

COMMISSIONER: 28. 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. So that included that 7.3 that we got from it, 30 

plus - plus July/August is a bit - busy time for rate collection. It goes into cycles. 

So July/August is - we get a lot of cash. And then September/October is dry, people 

are not paying. As we do the instalment payments, our cash comes in. So August was 

high. But then again, if we look at September, it went down, because September is a 

bit quiet period for rates collections. 35 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 40 

MS McDONALD: And just -  

 

MR NADAN: So that's - the money has gone in there. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. So the Built money went in and was reflected in the 45 

unrestricted reserves of 23.9 million? 
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MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: And now, in the September, you've got 14.5 million? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. Now - 

 

COMMISSIONER: And then there will be another influx of rate revenue 

in October? 10 

 

MR NADAN: Yes, going to keep going like that. What we are anticipating - June 

2026, around 7 million unrestricted cash.  

 

COMMISSIONER: 7? 15 

 

MR NADAN: 7 million. 

 

MS McDONALD: That's better than last year, isn't it? 

 20 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Does that take into account the prospect that you won't get the 25 

grant funding in advance? 

 

MR NADAN: No, not really. No - that we need to take that into account. So we're 

going through a comprehensive Q1 review - budget review, and then we'll be looking 

at how our forecast is looking, and then we'll form some strategies to deal with - if 30 

there is a - a - if the unrestricted cash is under pressure. 

 

COMMISSIONER: So at the moment that forecast presumes - or assumes, I'm 

sorry - 

 35 

MR NADAN: Based on the original budget, yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: The 30 June '26 payment - 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. Yes. 40 

 

COMMISSIONER: - which is at risk, I'll say.  

 

MR NADAN: It is also. If you get it, it's a bonus. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry - 24.10.2025 P-2603  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

COMMISSIONER: So you'll need - did I understand you - you're looking at 

what - the effect that might have on your unrestricted cash? 

 

MR NADAN: Exactly. So we will do that in the Q1 report, comprehensive review. 

If there are -  5 

 

MS McDONALD: This is your quarterly report? 

 

MR NADAN: When the Q1 budget review report goes to the council, that will be as 

a results of all the detailed analysis that we have done, taking into account these 10 

risks, plus any pluses and minuses that would come through. We will re-forecast our 

cash position and see how it is looking. If it is under pressure, then there will have to 

be some strategies to improve the situation.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 15 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. So that's currently happening as we speak. 

 

MS McDONALD: With the current financial year, are you aware of whether the 

budget contemplates expenditure by the council - the Amphitheatre project? 20 

 

MR NADAN: No. The current long-term financial doesn't have any provision for 

any income or expenditure that relates to the Amphitheatre project. 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 25 

 

MR NADAN: I haven't seen any financials relating that. 

 

MS McDONALD: No financials relating - 

 30 

MR NADAN: I haven't seen it. 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. We've - the Commissioner has also heard evidence that 

there's been a restructuring of the organisation of the council. And you've given 

evidence about the provision for the particular redundancies that were identified in 35 

the last financial year, but - it seems the actual payment was made this year, but it 

was a provision from - sorry, there was a provision last financial year.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. So the redundancy payments will come through the provision, 

but the budget also assumes the - the salary savings that are going to eventuate -  40 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

MR NADAN: - from not filling these positions. 

 45 

MS McDONALD: The - sorry, the salary savings - 
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MR NADAN: So remember, two directors - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

MR NADAN: - two PAs plus few other managers. The budget assumes that there 5 

will be salary savings, because those positions will not be filled. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So that had an impact on the current financial - 

 

MR NADAN: That's already in the budget, yes. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. There's been evidence of the introduction of an office of 

the CEO.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: And also we've heard some evidence that there are going to be 

new roles within that office. And at the moment, if you assume that it's anticipated 

that there will be some more - additional people employed, maybe at market rate to 

attract people with certain talent -  20 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: - that's wanted - has the budget contemplated the possible 

additional expense for that? 25 

 

MR NADAN: No. No. There's nothing in the budget for the new layout in the CEO's 

office. But again, it depends on when that structure is finalised and when the 

recruitment will happen. So for argument's sake, you know, if the recruitment 

happened, say, around March next year, we'll be looking at only three months of 30 

expenditure impacting the budget, but it will have a - fully impact on the 

following year. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 35 

MR NADAN: So depending on how things progress, we will pick it up in our 

forecast because we are doing Q1 now, we will be doing Q2 in February, Q3 in May 

next year. So we will be updating the projections as the information comes through. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So it may have an impact on this year's budget? 40 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Or depending, as you said, on all the various timings.  

 45 

MR NADAN: Correct. 
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MS McDONALD: If it is implemented, the impact may be the next financial year? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. Now, having said that, there are a few other initiatives 

that we are looking at - commercially sensitive - I would not be disclosing that, but 

there are a few other initiatives we are looking at which will generate some cash as 5 

well. 

 

MS McDONALD: Can you indicate what they are? And - before Mr Parish moves 

to his feet.  

 10 

MR PARISH: I thought I heard the words "sensitive matters", which ought not be 

disclosed as yet. I don't know what they are, other than that they may be sensitive, 

and that it was unresponsive, necessarily, to the question. 

 

MS McDONALD: If I maybe just clarify the question - 15 

 

MR PARISH: Thank you. 

 

MS McDONALD: You referred to, in this financial year, there might be some 

initiatives that are going to generate some income? Just yes or no.  20 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. I think what's in the public domain is an expression of 

interest - that's in public domain. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 25 

 

MR NADAN: An expression of interest that was issued to develop the car parks.  

 

COMMISSIONER: We've heard evidence about that. 

 30 

MS McDONALD: About - sorry, was it the car parks?  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. 35 

 

MR NADAN: But that's public knowledge. 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And when you gave - answer it in steps. When you 

spoke about possible revenue through some initiatives, you've referred to that public 40 

expression of interest for car parks.  

 

MR NADAN: That's correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: Any other - just say yes or no - any other initiatives for revenue 45 

anticipated or identified for this financial year? 
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MR NADAN: No. So this is what the - the proposed structure - or the people in the 

CEO's office will be doing. They will be coming up with ideas.  

 

MS McDONALD: That - 

 5 

MR NADAN: That's not in the budget. 

 

MS McDONALD: That's not - well, it's not going to have an immediate effect. 

That's going to be more long-term, isn't it? 

 10 

MR NADAN: I would think so. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Okay.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And again, just yes or no, are there initiatives being looked at 15 

on the expense side as well? 

 

MR NADAN: Increase the expense or reduce or - or to -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, it would of course increase, but -  20 

 

MR NADAN: To (indistinct) - cost savings - look, there is - there's a lot of vacancies 

currently in the organisation. And again, as I've said, if there is pressure on 

unrestricted cash then probably a decision can be made to hold a few of those - to 

manage your cashflow, so - yes. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Could we bring up another document, please. 

INQ.023.001.0040. And it can be live streamed. Can we move down that first page, 

Local Government 2024 Financial Audit from the Audit Office. Remember that 

document, Mr Nadan? 30 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. This is the report from the Auditor-General. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 35 

MR NADAN: Presented in Parliament. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Would you please go through to _0021. Now, you can see 

under Financial Sustainability - if you move down towards the bottom of that page, 

you've got the performance measures.  40 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And I just want to draw your attention to the Operating 

Performance, Current Ratio and the Infrastructure Renewal there. Based on the 45 

financial position of the council for this financial year, can you express an opinion as 
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to whether the council is likely to meet those benchmarks based on the current 

financial position? 

 

MR NADAN: '25/'26 or the year gone? This is based on '23/'24. 

 5 

MS McDONALD: No. Sorry. What I'm interested in is just those ratios.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: So I've identified Operating Performance, Current Ratio, 10 

Infrastructure, and I'm referring to this because it's a nice little summary.  

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: What I'm asking you in - for the current financial year, so 15 

'25/'26 - based on the current financial position of the council, have you a view as to 

whether it's likely the council will meet those performance indicators? 

 

MR NADAN: Okay. So given that we are projecting a deficit position for '25/'26, we 

will not be remitting the operating - or operating performance ratio. 20 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

MR NADAN: Current ratio - yes, we will meet the current ratio. Asset renewals 

ratio is a bit of a challenge and I don't think we will be hitting 100 per cent mark. 25 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So I'm just reminding myself - the current ratio is the 

ability to meet short-term obligations? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: So you're content with that? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. 

 35 

MS McDONALD: And can you remind me - I know it's got: 

 

"Rate at which assets are renewed against the rate at which they are depreciated." 

 

You have got a concern you won't make that? 40 

 

MR NADAN: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: And can you just explain why that is? 

 45 

MR NADAN: I indicated in my previous - then that a lot of new assets that's added 

to our asset portfolio. And they don't require maintenance, but they are depreciated 
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from that one. So there's always a gap. And also the way the Office of Local 

Government measures the guideline in terms of calculating this ratio, it doesn't take 

into account any expenditure that is actually on assets that are not completed.  

 

Even though you've spent a lot of money in the renewals in the end of June, they're 5 

not complete, they're still sitting in works in progress. They're not taken into account 

in these calculations. So we have been advised by our audit and risk committee, 

because we are no longer required to report on these ratios, can we provide an 

alternative measure to see how we are - what we think is a reasonable performance in 

terms of (indistinct). So that's what we are looking at as well. 10 

 

MS McDONALD: So are you looking at an alternative ratio? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. So we will be looking at, okay, this is what we have spent on 

renewals, even though it's not still in progress - but in terms of dollars, we've actually 15 

spent that money renewing - doing renewal works. 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, this alternative ratio, is it the council developing it 

themselves or are you doing it in - 

 20 

MR NADAN: I guess we have to look at the industry. We'll have to develop that. 

That has to be - have to look at the industry-wide - what the practice is, because 

apparently some councils are coming up with some alternative ratios. And we 

can - we can pick one of those and say this is what - 

 25 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR NADAN: - our performance is. 

 

MS McDONALD: So I think you made the comment that these OLG ratios aren't 30 

mandatory.  

 

MR NADAN: Correct. 

 

MS McDONALD: But in respect of the infrastructure one, Liverpool Council is 35 

looking around as to whether there's an alternative which, given your 

financial - sorry, the way that you've been renewing or improving assets you've got, 

in your view, would be a better indication? 

 

MR NADAN: That's right. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. But that's an ongoing process? 

 

MR NADAN: Correct. We'll have to see what other councils are reporting on and 

then adopt the best practice. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: Can you excuse me.  
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COMMISSIONER: Has there been any - to your knowledge, any communication 

with the Office of Local Government about having a look at these ratios or providing 

alternative measures? 

 5 

MR NADAN: They are working in the background, but there's nothing concrete yet. 

They are looking at this (indistinct). 

 

MS McDONALD: They're my questions.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I'm fairly certain I asked you this on the last occasion 

as well, but sitting here today, I'd like your view on the overall financial position of 

the council.  

 

MR NADAN: Liverpool City Council?  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MR NADAN: It's satisfactory for now, I would say. Yes, there are a few challenges 

that have to be managed, but the projects (indistinct) that we will be - will be cashed 20 

up at the end of the financial year. Operating ratio, as I've indicated, is a challenge, 

not only for us. It's - I guess there are timing issues that are impacting that as well, 

so - yes. But overall I'm happy with it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Other than the operating ratio, are there any other challenges?  25 

 

MR NADAN: Not - 

 

COMMISSIONER: Leaving aside ratios but in - more generally.  

 30 

MR NADAN: No, there is no challenges in there in terms of meeting those. We're 

going to meet all the ratios that we have signed off with the banks. That's (indistinct) 

there. Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Leaving aside ratios, what about the position of the council 35 

more generally over the next two to three years? How would you describe it? 

 

MR NADAN: As all these infrastructure comes online - that are completed - as I've 

said, there will be challenges, in terms of operating - committing the operating costs 

of these assets plus the ongoing maintenance. And as I've indicated, that - council 40 

will have to look at some special rate variations (indistinct) for those.  

 

COMMISSIONER: To look at the income side of - 

 

MR NADAN: Yes.  45 
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COMMISSIONER: On the last occasion I think you told me you thought it might 

be a good idea, given the forward projections and the outlook of what's coming 

online over the next few years, to report to council - that is, in a council 

meeting - more frequently than quarterly. 

 5 

MR NADAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Are you still - do you still hold the view that it would be a good 

idea? 

 10 

MR NADAN: We are reporting monthly to the governance committee. That was not 

happening before.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 15 

MR NADAN: So they are getting that update now - this is the new thing - it's going 

there. In terms of reporting, going back to council every month - bit of a challenge, I 

guess. For now, quarterly is reasonable. The governance committee also includes all 

the councillors anyway, so they're getting update. That's the reason I'm putting the 

table there and giving them - these are the (indistinct) to look at.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: So that wasn't happening before? 

 

MR NADAN: We were giving a lot of - sorry, I take it back. It was going to the 

budget committee every quarter, not monthly, like this.  25 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. 

 

MR NADAN: Yes. And also the format has changed. We used to give them a lot of 

spreadsheets. Obviously they were missing key points. So I'm not giving any 30 

spreadsheets any more, it's all text. You can read it. And also the Office of Local 

Government have changed their quarterly reporting (indistinct) additional 

information. And from November we will be following that format as well. So more 

transparency in reporting.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: And, I take it, you think that's a good idea into the future? 

 

MR NADAN: Yes, definitely. Councillors are aware of what's happening there and 

they don't get a surprise, "What is this? Nobody told us." Yes. And it's better. We 

used to - when we go to the quarterly meetings before in the previous years, we'd 40 

have to give them - like, we used to give them a verbal update, and they kind 

of forget and they go, "You didn't tell us." Now it's there, black and white, in front of 

them.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Anything arising? Anyone seek to ask Mr Nadan any 45 

questions? No. Mr Nadan, thank you for coming back. I'm very grateful for your 
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attendance this afternoon. That completes your evidence for the moment. I don't 

know whether I'll see you again, but for the moment you can step down. Thank you.  

 

MR NADAN: Not a problem. Happy to help. Thank you. 

 5 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW 

 

COMMISSIONER: Anything else to do this afternoon?  

 

MS McDONALD: No. Thank you.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: 10 am Monday?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 15 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I'll adjourn till 10 am Monday. Thank you. 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 3.22 PM 


